

ADOPTED: 25 May 2016 doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2016.4512

Safety and efficacy of α,β-unsaturated straight-chain and branched-chain aliphatic primary alcohols, aldehydes, acids and esters belonging to chemical group 3 when used as flavourings for all animal species

EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed (FEEDAP)

Abstract

Following a request from the European Commission, the EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed (FEEDAP) was asked to deliver a scientific opinion on the safety and efficacy of 43 compounds belonging to chemical group 3 ($\alpha_{r}\beta$ -unsaturated straight-chain and branched-chain aliphatic primary alcohols, aldehydes, acids and esters) when used as feed flavourings for all animal species and categories. They are currently authorised as flavours in food. This opinion concerns 17 compounds from this group. The FEEDAP Panel established the following conclusions: geraniol [02.012] and citral [05.020] are safe for all target species at the proposed maximum use level of 25 mg/kg feed; farnesol [02.029], (Z)-nerol [02.058], geranyl acetate [09.011], geranyl butyrate [09.048], geranyl formate [09.076], geranyl propionate [09.128], neryl propionate [09.169], neryl formate [09.212], neryl acetate [09.213], neryl isobutyrate [09.424] and geranyl isobutyrate [09.431] are safe at the maximum proposed use level of 5 mg/kg feed for all target species; 2-methyl-2pentenoic acid [08.055], (2E)-methylcrotonic acid [08.064], ethyl (E,Z)-deca-2,4-dienoate [09.260] and prenyl acetate [09.692] are safe at the proposed normal use levels of 1 mg/kg complete feed for all animal species. No safety concern would arise for the consumer from the use of these compounds up to the highest safe level in feeds. Hazards for skin and eye contact and respiratory exposure are recognised for the majority of the compounds under application. Most are classified as irritating to the respiratory system. The concentrations considered safe for the target species are unlikely to have detrimental effects on the terrestrial and fresh water environments. As all of the compounds under assessment are used in food as flavourings and their function in feed is essentially the same as that in food, no further demonstration of efficacy is necessary.

© 2016 European Food Safety Authority. *EFSA Journal* published by John Wiley and Sons Ltd on behalf of European Food Safety Authority.

Keywords: sensory additives, feed flavourings, α , β -unsaturated straight-chain and branched-chain aliphatic primary alcohols/aldehydes/acids/esters, chemical group 3, safety

Requestor: European Commission Question number: EFSA-Q-2010-01219 Correspondence: feedap@efsa.europa.eu



Panel members: Gabriele Aquilina, Giovanna Azimonti, Vasileios Bampidis, Maria de Lourdes Bastos, Georges Bories, Andrew Chesson, Pier Sandro Cocconcelli, Gerhard Flachowsky, Jürgen Gropp, Boris Kolar, Maryline Kouba, Secundino López Puente, Marta López-Alonso, Alberto Mantovani, Baltasar Mayo, Fernando Ramos, Guido Rychen, Maria Saarela, Roberto Edoardo Villa, Robert John Wallace and Pieter Wester

Acknowledgements: The Panel wishes to thank the members of the Working Group on Feed Flavourings, including Paul Brantom, Birgit Dusemund, Christer Hogstrand, Patrick Van Beelen and Johannes Westendorf, for the support provided to this scientific opinion.

Suggested citation: EFSA FEEDAP Panel (EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed), 2016. Scientific opinion on the safety and efficacy of α , β -unsaturated straight-chain and branched-chain aliphatic primary alcohols, aldehydes, acids and esters belonging to chemical group 3 when used as flavourings for all animal species. EFSA Journal 2016;14(6):4512, 21 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2016.4512

ISSN: 1831-4732

© 2016 European Food Safety Authority. *EFSA Journal* published by John Wiley and Sons Ltd on behalf of European Food Safety Authority.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and no modifications or adaptations are made.



The EFSA Journal is a publication of the European Food Safety Authority, an agency of the European Union.





Table of contents

| Abstract | t | 1 |
|----------|--|----|
| 1. | Introduction | 4 |
| 1.1. | Background and Terms of Reference | 4 |
| 1.2. | Additional information | 5 |
| 2. | Data and methodologies | 5 |
| 2.1. | Data | 5 |
| 2.2. | Methodologies | 6 |
| 3. | Assessment | 6 |
| 3.1. | Characterisation | 6 |
| 3.1.1. | Characterisation of the flavouring substances | 6 |
| 3.1.2. | Stability | 8 |
| 3.1.3. | Conditions of use | 8 |
| 3.2. | Safety | 8 |
| 3.2.1. | Absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion | 9 |
| 3.2.2. | Toxicological studies | 10 |
| 3.2.3. | Safety for the target species | 11 |
| 3.2.3.1. | Conclusions on safety for the target species | 13 |
| 3.2.4. | Safety for the consumer | 13 |
| 3.2.5. | Safety for the user | 14 |
| 3.2.6. | Safety for the environment | 14 |
| 3.2.6.1. | Conclusions on safety for the environment | 16 |
| 3.3. | Efficacy | 16 |
| 4. | Conclusions | 16 |
| Docume | entation provided to EFSA | 16 |
| Referen | Ces | 16 |
| Abbrevia | ations | 19 |
| Annex A | A – Executive Summary of the Evaluation Report of the European Union Reference Laboratory for | |
| Feed Ad | ditives on the Method(s) of Analysis for Chemically Defined Flavourings - Group 03 α , β -unsaturated | |
| (alkene | or alkyne) straight-chain and branched-chain alipatic primary alcohols/aldehydes/acids, acetals and | |
| esters w | vith esters containing α , β -unsaturated alcohols or aldehydes | 21 |

1. Introduction

1.1. Background and Terms of Reference

Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003¹ establishes the rules governing the Community authorisation of additives for use in animal nutrition. In particular, Article 4(1) of that Regulation lays down that any person seeking authorisation for a feed additive or for a new use of a feed additive shall submit an application in accordance with Article 7, in addition, Article 10(2) of that Regulation also specifies that for existing products within the meaning of Article 10(1), an application shall be submitted in accordance with Article 7, within a maximum of 7 years after the entry into force of this Regulation.

The European Commission received a request from the Feed Flavourings Authorisation Consortium European Economic Interest Grouping (FFAC EEIG)² for authorisation of 43 substances (geraniol, hex-2en-1-ol, 3,7,11-trimethyldodeca-2,6,10-trien-1-ol, nona-2,6-dien-1-ol, pent-2-en-1-ol, nerol, non-2(cis)en-1-ol, tr-2, cis-6-nonadien-1-ol, citral (mixture of geranial and neral), 2-dodecenal, nona-2(trans),6 (cis)-dienal, nona-2,4-dienal, trans-2-nonenal, hex-2(trans)-enal, 2,4-decadienal, 2,4-heptadienal, hepta-2,4-dienal, deca-2(trans),4(trans)-dienal, dodec-2(trans)-enal, hept-2(trans)-enal, non-2-enal, nona-2 (trans),6(trans)-dienal, undec-2(trans)-enal, trans-2-octenal, trans-2-decenal, tr-2, tr-4-nonadienal, tr-2, tr-4-undecadienal, 2-methyl-2-pentenoic acid, 2-methylcrotonic acid, geranyl acetate, geranyl butyrate, geranyl formate, allyl heptanoate, geranyl propionate, neryl propionate, neryl formate, neryl acetate, allyl hexanoate, ethyldeca-2(trans),4(cis)-dienoate, hex-2(trans)-enyl acetate, hex-2-enyl butyrate, neryl isobutyrate, geranyl isobutyrate and prenyl acetate) belonging to chemical group (CG) 3, when used as a feed additive for all animal species (category: sensory additives; functional group: flavourings). CG 3 for flavouring substances is defined in Commission Regulation (EC) No $1565/2000^3$ as ' α , β -unsaturated (alkene or alkyne) straight-chain and branched-chain aliphatic primary alcohols/aldehydes/acids, acetals and esters with esters containing α,β -unsaturated alcohol and acetal containing α,β -unsaturated alcohols or aldehydes. No aromatic or heteroaromatic moiety as a component of an ester or acetal'. During the course of the assessment, this application was split and the present opinion covers 17 out of the 43 substances under application (see Section 1.2).

According to Article 7(1) of Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003, the Commission forwarded the application to the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) as an application under Article 4(1) (authorisation of a feed additive or new use of a feed additive) and under Article 10(2) (re-evaluation of an authorised feed additive). During the course of the assessment, the applicant withdrew the application for the use of chemically defined flavourings in water for drinking.⁴ EFSA received directly from the applicant the technical dossier in support of this application. The particulars and documents in support of the application were considered valid by EFSA as of 1 December 2010.

According to Article 8 of Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003, EFSA, after verifying the particulars and documents submitted by the applicant, shall undertake an assessment in order to determine whether the feed additive complies with the conditions laid down in Article 5.

EFSA shall deliver an opinion on the safety for the target animals, consumer, user and the environment, and on the efficacy of geraniol (EU Flavour Information System (FLAVIS) number) [02.012], 3,7,11-trimethyldodeca-2,6,10-trien-1-ol [02.029], nerol [02.058], citral (mixture of geranial and neral) [05.020], 2-methyl-2-pentenoic acid [08.055], 2-methylcrotonic acid [08.064], geranyl acetate [09.011], geranyl butyrate [09.048], geranyl formate [09.076], geranyl propionate [09.128], neryl propionate [09.169], neryl formate [09.212], neryl acetate [09.213], ethyldeca-2(*trans*),4(*cis*)-dienoate [09.260], neryl isobutyrate [09.424], geranyl isobutyrate [09.431] and prenyl acetate [09.692], when used under the proposed conditions of use (see Section 3.1.3).

¹ Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 22 September 2003 on additives for use in animal nutrition. OJ L 268, 18.10.2003, p. 29.

² Feed Flavourings Authorisation Consortium European Economic Interest Grouping (FFAC EEIG), Avenue Louise 130A, B-1050, Brussels, Belgium.

³ Commission Regulation (EC) No 1565/2000 of 18 July 2000 laying down the measures necessary for the adoption of an evaluation programme in application of Regulation (EC) No 2232/96 of the European Parliament and of the Council. OJ L 180, 19.7.2000, p. 8.

⁴ On 10 March 2016, EFSA was informed by the European Commission on the withdrawal of the application for re-authorisation of chemically defined flavourings – use in water.

1.2. Additional information

Thirty-two out of the 43 compounds have been previously assessed by the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives (JECFA) (WHO, 1997, 1999, 2004, 2005). JECFA concluded that all flavouring substances evaluated were of no safety concern when used at current levels of estimated intake. A group acceptable daily intake (ADI) of 0.5 mg/kg body weight (bw) per day has been specified for geraniol, citral and geranyl acetate (WHO, 1980, 2004).

The EFSA Panel on Food Contact Materials, Enzymes, Flavourings and Processing Aids (CEF) has considered all 43 compounds, but could proceed with the assessment of only 17 compounds (EFSA, 2009a,b; EFSA CEF Panel, 2010a, 2013a,b), because of genotoxicity alerts based on the presence of α , β -unsaturated aldehydes and their precursors for the remaining 26 substances. The EFSA CEF Panel has requested additional data (EFSA CEF Panel, 2014a,b) and the EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed (FEEDAP) will also not proceed with an assessment of these compounds until the issue of genotoxicity has been resolved.

The current assessment concerns 17 compounds, namely geraniol [02.012], 3,7,11-trimethyldodeca-2,6,10-trien-1-ol [02.029], nerol [02.058], citral (mixture of geranial and neral) [05.020], 2-methyl-2-pentenoic acid [08.055], 2-methylcrotonic acid [08.064], geranyl acetate [09.011], geranyl butyrate [09.048], geranyl formate [09.076], geranyl propionate [09.128], neryl propionate [09.169], neryl formate [09.212], neryl acetate [09.213], ethyldeca-2(*trans*),4(*cis*)-dienoate [09.260], neryl isobutyrate [09.424], geranyl isobutyrate [09.431] and prenyl acetate [09.692] (EFSA, 2009a,b; EFSA CEF Panel, 2010a, 2013a,b). All are currently listed in the European Union database of flavouring substances⁵ and in the European Union Register of Feed Additives, and thus authorised for use in food and feed in the European Union (EU). They have not been previously assessed by EFSA as feed additives.

Regulation (EC) No 429/2008⁶ allows substances already approved for use in human food to be assessed with a more limited procedure than for other feed additives. However, the use of this procedure is always subject to the condition that food safety assessment is relevant to the use in feed.

2. Data and methodologies

2.1. Data

The present assessment is based on data submitted by the applicant in the form of a technical dossier⁷ in support of the authorisation request for the use of the compounds belonging to CG 3 as feed additives. The technical dossier was prepared following the provisions of Article 7 of Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003, Regulation (EC) No 429/2008 and the applicable EFSA guidance documents.

The FEEDAP Panel has sought to use the data provided by the applicant together with data from other sources, such as previous risk assessments by EFSA or other expert bodies, peer-reviewed scientific papers and experts' knowledge, to deliver the present output.

EFSA has verified the European Union Reference Laboratory (EURL) report as it relates to the methods used for the control of the ' α , β -unsaturated (alkene or alkyne) straight-chain and branchedchain aliphatic primary alcohols, aldehydes, acids, acetals and esters with esters containing α , β unsaturated alcohol and acetal containing α , β -unsaturated alcohols or aldehydes. No aromatic or heteroaromatic moiety as a component of an ester or acetal in animal feed'. The Executive Summary of the EURL report can be found in Annex A.⁸

⁵ Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) No 872/2012 of 1 October 2012 adopting the list of flavouring substances provided for by Regulation (EC) No 2232/96 of the European Parliament and of the Council, introducing it in Annex I to Regulation (EC) No 1334/2008 of the European Parliament and of the Council and repealing Commission Regulation (EC) No 1565/2000 and Commission Decision 1999/217/EC. OJ L 267, 2.10.2012, p. 1.

⁶ Commission Regulation (EC) No 429/2008 of 25 April 2008 on detailed rules for the implementation of Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003 of the European Parliament and of the Council as regards the preparation and the presentation of applications and the assessment and the authorisation of feed additives. OJ L 133, 22.5.2008, p. 1.

⁷ FEED dossier reference: FAD-2010-0124.

⁸ The full report is available on the EURL website: https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/sites/default/files/FiniRep-FAD-2010-0124.pdf

2.2. Methodologies

The approach followed by the FEEDAP Panel to assess the safety and the efficacy of 17 compounds belonging to CG 3, is in line with the principles laid down in Regulation (EC) No 429/2008 and the relevant guidance documents: Guidance for the preparation of dossiers for sensory additives (EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2012a), Technical Guidance for assessing the safety of feed additives for the environment (EFSA, 2008), Guidance for the preparation of dossiers for additives already authorised for use in food (EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2012b), Guidance for establishing the safety of additives for the consumer (EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2012c), and Guidance on studies concerning the safety of use of the additive for users/workers (EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2012d).

3. Assessment

3.1. Characterisation

3.1.1. Characterisation of the flavouring substances

The molecular structures of the 17 additives under assessment are shown in Figure 1 and their physicochemical characteristics in Table 1.



Figure 1: Molecular structures, [FLAVIS numbers] and (trivial names) of the 17 flavouring compounds under assessment

www.efsa.europa.eu/efsajournal



| chemically defined flavourings under assessment | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|---|--------|-----------|------------|-----------------------------------|---------------------|----------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|
| EU registe | r name | CAS no. | FLAVIS no. | Molecular formula | Molecular weight | Physical state | Log K _{ow} ^{(a),(b)} | | | | | |
| Geraniol | | 106-24-1 | 02.012 | C ₁₀ H ₁₈ O | 154.25 | Liquid | 3.56 | | | | | |
| Farnesol | | 4602-84-0 | 02.029 | $C_{15}H_{26}O$ | 222.37 | Liquid | 5.77 | | | | | |

Table 1: Chemical Abstracts Service (CAS) and FLAVIS numbers and some characteristics of the

| | | | | | | 010 |
|--|-----------|--------|-----------------------------------|--------|--------|------|
| Geraniol | 106-24-1 | 02.012 | C ₁₀ H ₁₈ O | 154.25 | Liquid | 3.56 |
| Farnesol | 4602-84-0 | 02.029 | $C_{15}H_{26}O$ | 222.37 | Liquid | 5.77 |
| (Z)-Nerol | 106-25-2 | 02.058 | C ₁₀ H ₁₈ O | 154.25 | Liquid | 3.47 |
| Citral | 5392-40-5 | 05.020 | $C_{10}H_{16}O$ | 152.24 | Liquid | 3.45 |
| 2-Methyl-2-pentenoic acid | 3142-72-1 | 08.055 | $C_6H_{10}O_2$ | 114.14 | Liquid | 1.58 |
| (2E)-Methylcrotonic acid | 80-59-1 | 08.064 | $C_5H_8O_2$ | 100.1 | Liquid | 1.40 |
| Geranyl acetate | 105-87-3 | 09.011 | $C_{12}H_{20}O_2$ | 196.29 | Liquid | 4.04 |
| Geranyl butyrate | 106-29-6 | 09.048 | $C_{14}H_{24}O_2$ | 224.34 | Liquid | 4.92 |
| Geranyl formate | 105-86-2 | 09.076 | $C_{11}H_{18}O_2$ | 182.26 | Liquid | 3.93 |
| Geranyl propionate | 105-90-8 | 09.128 | $C_{13}H_{22}O_2$ | 210.32 | Liquid | 4.41 |
| Neryl propionate | 105-91-9 | 09.169 | $C_{13}H_{22}O_2$ | 210.31 | Liquid | 4.63 |
| Neryl formate | 2142-94-1 | 09.212 | $C_{11}H_{18}O_2$ | 182.26 | Liquid | 3.93 |
| Neryl acetate | 141-12-8 | 09.213 | $C_{12}H_{20}O_2$ | 196.29 | Liquid | 3.98 |
| Ethyl (<i>E,Z</i>)-deca-2,4- dienoate | 3025-30-7 | 09.260 | $C_{12}H_{20}O_2$ | 196.29 | Liquid | 4.45 |
| Neryl isobutyrate | 2345-24-6 | 09.424 | $C_{14}H_{24}O_2$ | 224.34 | Liquid | 5.38 |
| Geranyl isobutyrate | 2345-26-8 | 09.431 | $C_{14}H_{24}O_2$ | 224.34 | Liquid | 5.38 |
| Prenyl acetate | 1191-16-8 | 09.692 | $C_7H_{12}O_2$ | 128.17 | Liquid | 1.65 |

EU: European Union; Flavis number: EU Flavour Information System numbers.

(a): Logarithm of octanol-water partition coefficient.

(b): Taken from Pubchem or generated from EPI-Suite 4.01.

3,7,11-Trimethyldodeca-2,6,10-trien-1-ol [02.029] is hereafter referred as farnesol.

Geraniol [02.012] may be produced by fractional distillation of an essential oil or by chemical synthesis. The remaining compounds are all synthetically produced. Typical routes of synthesis are described for each compound.9

Data was provided on the batch to batch variation in five batches of each additive except nervl propionate [09.169] for which only one batch was provided owing to the low use volume (< 1 kg/year).¹⁰ The content of the active substance exceeded the JECFA specifications for all compounds (Table 2), except neryl acetate [09.213] for which two batches were below 96%.

| | | | Assay % | | |
|---------------------------|--|-------------------|---------------------|-----------|--|
| EU register name | FLAVIS no. JECFA minimum specification % | | Average | Range | |
| Geraniol | 02.012 | 88 ^(b) | 98.7 | 98.3–99.0 | |
| Farnesol | 02.029 | 96 ^(c) | 98.0 | 96.9–99.3 | |
| (Z)-Nerol | 02.058 | 95 ^(d) | 99.0 | 97.7–99.5 | |
| Citral ^(e) | 05.020 | 96 ^(f) | 97.1 | 96.1–99.8 | |
| 2-Methyl-2-pentenoic acid | 08.055 | 98 ^(g) | 99.4 | 98.5–100 | |
| (2E)-Methylcrotonic acid | 08.064 | 99 ^(h) | 99.6 | 99.1–99.9 | |
| Geranyl acetate | 09.011 | 90 ⁽ⁱ⁾ | 98.8 | 96.3–99.8 | |
| Geranyl butyrate | 09.048 | 92 ^(j) | 98.4 | 94.1–99.7 | |
| Geranyl formate | 09.076 | 85 ^(k) | 96.7 | 95.2–97.8 | |
| Geranyl propionate | 09.128 | 92 ^(I) | 98.1 | 95.4–99.7 | |
| Neryl propionate | 09.169 | 95 | 98.2 ^(m) | 98.2 | |
| Neryl formate | 09.212 | 90 ⁽ⁿ⁾ | 95.2 | 94.0–96.5 | |

Table 2: Identity of the substances and data on purity

⁹ Technical dossier/Section II.

¹⁰ Technical dossier/Section II/Annex 2.1 and Supplementary information May 2011.



| | | | Assay % | | |
|-------------------------------|------------|--|---------|-----------|--|
| EU register name | FLAVIS no. | JECFA minimum specification % ^(a) | Average | Range | |
| Neryl acetate | 09.213 | 96 ^(o) | 96.3 | 93.0–99.9 | |
| Ethyl (E,Z)-deca-2,4-dienoate | 09.260 | 90 ^(p,q) | 99.2 | 98.2–99.6 | |
| Neryl isobutyrate | 09.424 | 92 ^(r) | 99.1 | 98.0–99.8 | |
| Geranyl isobutyrate | 09.431 | 95 | 97.4 | 96.8–98.5 | |
| Prenyl acetate | 09.692 | 95 ^(s) | 99.2 | 98.6–99.7 | |

EU: European Union; Flavis number: EU Flavour Information System numbers; JECFA: The Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives.

(b): The name geraniol specifies the (*E*)-isomer. According to JECFA: 'Min. Assay value is 88 (total alcohols as C₁₀H₁₈O) and secondary components citronellyl, neryl, and geranyl acetate esters' (EFSA CEF Panel, 2013a).

(c): Mixture of (*Z*)- and (*E*)-isomers for both C=C double bonds. 10–15% (2*Z*,6*Z*); 20–25% (2*E*,6*Z*); 20–25% (2*Z*,6*E*); 40–50% (2*E*,2*E*) (EFSA CEF Panel, 2013a).

(d): According to JECFA: 'Min. assay value is 95% (of total alcohols as $C_{10}H_{18}O$)' (EFSA CEF Panel, 2013a).

(e): JECFA evaluated the isomer mixture Citral (Mixture of geranial and neral), FLAVIS No [05.020]; CAS No 5392-40-5; JECFA No 1225. It contains unspecified amounts of neral [05.170].

- (f): Mixture of (Z)- and (E)-isomer. CAS No in Register does not specify stereoisomeric composition (EFSA CEF Panel, 2013a).
- (g): Mixture of (Z)- and (E)-isomer. CAS No in Register does not specify stereoisomeric composition. 60–75% (*E*) and 20–30% (*Z*) (EFSA CEF Panel, 2013a).
- (h): Specification reflecting the use of the applicant members: minimum assay 98%.
- (i): Secondary components: 4–6% geraniol and 1–2% nerol.
- (j): Total esters. Secondary components: 3–5% geraniol and 1% nerol.
- (k): Total esters. Secondary components: 8–10% geraniol and 2–4% nerol.
- (I): Total esters. Secondary components: 3–4% geraniol and 1–2% nerol.
- (m): One batch, use of the product 1 kg/year or less.
- (n): Secondary components: 4–6% geraniol, 1–3% nerol and formate esters of citronellol, geraniol and rhodinol.
- (o): Specification reflecting the use of the applicant members: minimum assay 93%.
- (p): Secondary components: (*E*,*E*)-ethyl 2,4-decadienoate. Reflects the use of the applicant members. Specification indicates a minimum assay value of 98.0% (sum of isomers) with 92.0% (*E*,*Z*) and 0.1–8% of secondary isomers. Nevertheless, the minimum assay of JECFA is given.
- (q): JECFA evaluated ethyl *trans*-2-*cis*-4-decadienate (CAS No as in the register). CAS No in the Register refers to the (2*E*,4*Z*)enantiomer (EFSA, 2009b).
- (r): Secondary components: 2–5% nerol and 1–2% geraniol.
- (s): Specification reflecting the use of the applicant members: minimum assay 98%.

Potential contaminants are considered as part of the product specification and are monitored as part of the Hazard Analysis and Critical Control Point procedure applied by all consortium members. The parameters considered include residual solvents, heavy metals and other undesirable substances. However, no evidence of compliance was provided for these parameters.

3.1.2. Stability

The shelf life of the compounds under assessment ranges from 8 to 36 months, when stored in closed containers under recommended conditions. This assessment is made on the basis of compliance with the original specification over this storage period.

3.1.3. Conditions of use

The applicant proposes the use of all of the 17 compounds in feed for all animal species without withdrawal. For geraniol and citral, the applicant proposes a normal use level of 5 mg/kg feed and a high use level of 25 mg/kg. For the remaining 15 additives, the applicant proposes a normal use level of 1 mg/kg feed and a high use level of 5 mg/kg.

3.2. Safety

The assessment of safety is based on the high use levels proposed by the applicant (25 mg/kg for geraniol and citral, and 5 mg/kg for the remaining compounds).

⁽a): FAO (2006).



3.2.1. Absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion

In general, compounds belonging to CG 3 are rapidly absorbed, distributed, metabolised and excreted (WHO, 1999, EFSA CEF Panel, 2010b, 2013b).

The metabolic reactions involved in the biotransformation of straight-chain and branched-chain unsaturated primary aliphatic alcohols, aldehydes, carboxylic acids and esters (WHO, 1999; EFSA CEF Panel, 2010b, 2013b) are: (i) hydrolysis of esters (Heymann, 1980); (ii) oxidation of linear and branched-chain alcohols and aldehydes to acids, by high capacity nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD+)/(nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate) NADP-dependent enzymes (Voet and Voet, 1990; Feron et al., 1991; Parkinson, 1996); (iii) reduction of aldehydes to alcohols by NAD(P)Hdependent reductases; (iv) conjugation with glucuronic acid of alcohols (a minor pathway for primary alcohols) and polar metabolites resulting from a combination of ω, ω -1 and β -oxidation (Diliberto et al., 1990); (v) metabolism of the resulting linear- or branched-chain unsaturated carboxylic acids to carbon dioxide in the tricarboxylic acid cyclic and fatty acid pathway (Voet and Voet, 1990), by β -oxidation (linear- and short-chain branched carboxylic acids) or ω-oxidation (medium- and long-chain carboxylic acids, presence of ethyl or propyl side chains); (vi) isomerisation reactions by enoyl-CoA isomerase (shift of the double bond from delta³- to delta²-enoyl-CoA, when unsaturation begin at an oddnumbered carbon) and 3-hydroxyacyl-CoA epimerase (*cis*- to *trans*-isomerisation of delta²-enoyl-CoA); and (vii) saturation of unsaturated short-chain acids, to yield a substrate that may participate in the fatty acid pathway.

Unsaturated carboxylic acids are metabolised by well recognised pathways leading to the production of acetyl-CoA and propionyl-CoA, which enter general metabolism (Stryer, 1988).

Metabolism studies in laboratory animals are available for geraniol [02.011], citral [05.020] and farnesol [02.029].

Male rats were given repeated oral doses of 800 mg $[1-^{3}H]$ -geraniol/kg bw by gavage daily for 20 days. Two primary pathways leading to five urinary metabolites were identified. In one pathway, the alcohol is first oxidised to geranic acid (3,7-dimethyl-2,6-octadieneoic acid), which is subsequently hydrated to yield 3,7-dimethyl-3-hydroxy-6-octenoic acid. In a second pathway, the alcohol undergoes ω -oxidation mediated by liver cytochrome P-450 (Chadha and Madyastha, 1982) to yield 8-hydroxygeraniol. Selective oxidation at C8 yields 8-carboxygeraniol, which is further oxidised to the main urinary metabolite 2,6-dimethyl-2,6-octadienedioic acid (Chadha and Madyastha, 1984).

In rats, citral, a mixture of geranial (the corresponding aldehyde of geraniol) and its *cis*-isomer (neral), is metabolised via similar alcohol and ω -oxidation pathways. In male Fisher 344 rats given [1,2-14C]citral at a dose of 5 or 500 mg/kg bw by gavage, citral was rapidly metabolised and excreted as metabolites. The major metabolite identified in the bile was the glucuronide of geranic acid. In the urine of these rats, several carboxylic acids were identified, among which the metabolites resulting from oxidation of the aldehyde function (geranic acid) or from ω-oxidation and further reduction and hydration of the double bond at C2 (Hildebrandt acid (2,6-dimethyl-2,6-octadienedioic acid) and dihydro-Hildebrandt acid) (Diliberto et al., 1990). Hepatic reduction of the aldehyde may precede oxidation pathways, as experiments in vitro revealed that citral is not oxidised by rat hepatic aldehyde dehydrogenase (ALDH) to the corresponding acids. In fact, citral was found to be a potent inhibitor of ALDH-mediated oxidation of acetaldehyde, and was reduced to the corresponding alcohols by rat hepatic alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH) (Boyer and Petersen, 1991). Nucleophilic addition reactions are common for $\alpha_{i}\beta$ -unsaturated aldehydes but seem not to occur with citral as indicated by the absence of adducts with glutathione and other sulfhydryl compounds. Although citral has two carbon double bonds, which are potential sites for epoxidation, none of the metabolites observed in the urine of rats seem to arise from epoxides (Diliberto et al., 1990).

Farnesyldiphosphate (FPP) is an intermediate in the synthesis of cholesterol and subsequent steroids. Because of the biological role of farnesol, amounts of exogenous applied farnesol may also be incorporated into endogenous compounds, such as cholesterol. Farnesol plays an important role in the biochemistry of all eukaryotic cells. Although FPP is endogenously synthesised in cells of animals and humans, it has been shown that exogenously provided farnesol can also be phosphorylated by liver microsomes and peroxisomes (Westfall et al., 1997; Endo et al., 2011). Oxidative metabolism of farnesol by alcohol dehydrogenases of the liver and other organs (lung, colon, stomach) leads to the aldehyde farnesal, which can be either reduced back to farnesol by aldehyde reductase or further oxidised to farnesoic acid by microsomal aldehyde dehydrogenases. Excretion of farnesol is mediated by glucuronidation, which is mainly catalysed by UGT2B7 (Staines et al., 2004).



With the exception of a report describing the complete degradation/metabolism of nerol and geraniol after 24 h in a rumen simulation technique apparatus (Franz et al., 2010), studies on the metabolism of compounds belonging to CG 3 in target animals are lacking in the scientific literature. However, the enzymes involved in the biotransformation pathways of these compounds are present in all target species. Carboxylesterases, responsible for the hydrolysis of esters, are present in the gut especially of ruminants and liver of several animal species (cattle, pigs, broiler chicks, rabbits and horses), operating the hydrolysis of esters and originating the respective alcohols and acids (Gusson et al., 2006). Carboxylesterase activity also plays a significant role in detoxification processes in fish (Li and Fan, 1997; Di Giulio and Hinton, 2008). Reduction of aldehydes to alcohols can also been carried out by carbonyl reductases that are widely distributed in several animal species, including cattle, pig, rabbit, dog, sheep, and birds as reviewed by Felsted and Bachur (1980) and more recently evaluated *in vitro* in liver from cattle, pig, goat and sheep (Szotakova et al., 2004). β-Oxidation and ω-oxidation are endogenous pathways and are expected to occur in all animal species and β -oxidation has been demonstrated in fish (Crockett and Sidell, 1993) and birds (Pan and Fouts, 1978; Sanz et al., 2000). The CYP450 monooxygenase families, are present and have been characterised in a number of foodproducing animals, including ruminants, horses, pigs, (Nebbia et al., 2003; Ioannides, 2006; Fink-Gremmels, 2008), fish (Wolf and Wolfe, 2005) and birds (Blevins et al., 2012). All these species, also carry out conjugation reactions with sulfate and glucuronic acid (Watkins and Klaassen, 1986; James, 1987; Gusson et al., 2006), producing water-soluble derivatives that are eliminated in urine. Therefore, mammals, fish and birds can be assumed to have the ability to metabolise and excrete the flavouring substances present in CG 3. The FEEDAP Panel notes that for feline species the capacity for conjugation is limited (Shrestha et al., 2011; Court, 2013).

3.2.2. Toxicological studies

Toxicological data (subchronic, repeated-dose studies, with multiple-doses tested) could be found only for geraniol [02.012], citral [05.020], geranyl acetate [09.011] and farnesol [02.0290].

A subchronic repeated-dose toxicity study (16 weeks, only one dose tested, by oral route, 5M/5F) in rat was available for geraniol [02.012] from a publication considering 48 flavourings (Hagan et al., 1967). The study considered a number of endpoints (survival, behaviour, body weight, feed intake; haematological parameters: white cell count, red cell count, haemoglobins and haematocrit; organ weight, gross pathology, histopathology). No effects were seen at the concentration tested (10,000 mg/kg diet corresponding to 500 mg/kg bw per day). In a further study reported in the same publication, no effects were seen when geraniol was administered with diet at 1,000 mg/kg (corresponding to 50 mg/kg bw per day) for 27–28 weeks. From the 90-day study, a no observed adverse effect level (NOAEL) of 10,000 mg/kg feed corresponding to 500 mg/kg bw per day could be derived for geraniol.

In the same publication (Hagan et al., 1967), a 13-week study in rats (males/females, 10 animals/sex and group) three doses of geranyl acetate (0, 1,000, 2,500 and 10,000 mg/kg equivalent to 0, 50, 125, 500 mg/kg bw per day) were administered via diet. No effects were seen on the same parameters described for geraniol at all the concentrations tested. From this study, also a NOAEL of 10,000 mg/kg feed corresponding to 500 mg/kg bw per day could be derived for geranyl acetate.

The subchronic toxicity of geranyl acetate was also tested in mice and rats dosed with a mixture containing also citronellyl acetate (test material: 71% geranyl acetate, 29% citronellyl acetate) (NTP, 1987). The mixture was administered by gavage at doses of 0, 125, 500 and 1,000 mg/kg bw per day in mice (males/females, 10 animals/sex and group) and of 0, 250, 500, 1,000, 2,000 and 4,000 mg/kg bw per day in rat (males/females, 10 animals/sex and group). No adverse effects were seen. The same mixture was not considered carcinogenic to mice and rats in a 2-year study, when administered at doses of 500 and 1,000 mg/kg bw in mice and of 1,000 and 2,000 mg/kg bw in rat (NTP, 1987).

Several studies were available for citral [05.020] and were reviewed by the EFSA CEF Panel (2013b). No treatment-related effects on growth, haematology and organ weights were observed, and there were no macroscopic or microscopic changes in tissues when citral was administered to rats at doses of 0, 50, 125 and 500 mg/kg bw per day for 13 weeks (Hagan et al., 1967). This study also confirms a NOAEL of 500 mg/kg bw per day.

In a 14-week study (NTP, 2003), higher doses of citral were given via feed to mice (0, 745, 1,840, 3,915 and 8,810 mg/kg bw per day in males and 0, 790, 1,820, 3,870 and 7,550 mg/kg bw per day in females) and rat (0, 345, 820, 1,785 mg/kg bw per day in males and 0, 335, 675, and 1,330 mg/kg bw per day in females). In mice, decreased body weights and body-weight gains, and a reduction in



the lymphocyte count in males, and decreased body weights and body-weight gains in females were observed at all dose levels, indicating that the NOAEL is < 745 and < 790 mg/kg bw per day in males and females, respectively. In rats, significantly increased incidences of nephropathy and granular casts (characterised by dilated tubules) were seen in males, at the two highest doses. Decreased body weights and body-weight gains, and bone marrow atrophy accompanied by bone marrow haemorrhage in females were observed at the highest dose. The NOAEL derived from this study is 675 mg/kg bw per day in females and 345 mg/kg bw per day in males.

A 2-year carcinogenicity study was performed with rats and mice (50 males and females each) fed diets containing 1,000, 2,000 or 4,000 mg/kg feed microencapsulated citral (corresponding to approximately 50, 100 and 210 mg/kg bw in rat and 60, 120 and 260 mg/kg bw in mice). Additional groups of 50 male and 50 female rats received untreated feed (untreated controls) or feed containing placebo microcapsules (vehicle controls) (NTP, 2003). The only treatment-related effects observed after 2 years were weight reductions at 210 mg/kg bw in rats and 120 mg/kg bw in mice. Although the body weight effect was selected by JECFA as the NOAEL for calculating an ADI, the differences are rather small and it is unclear whether they are statistically significant. Although the feed intakes of the groups are similar the possibility that this is a palatability effect cannot be excluded, as this appeared to be the primary reason for body weight differences seen in the 90-day study. It is considered by the Panel that the body weight differences in the 2-year studies do not represent an adverse effect, particularly as the survival of those groups was in fact enhanced. The conclusion is therefore that for rats and mice the 2-year NOAEL is > 210 mg/kg bw per day.

The FEEDAP Panel selects a NOAEL of 345 mg/kg bw per day from the 90-day study in rat (NTP, 2003) as a group NOAEL for citral, geraniol, (*Z*)-nerol (the *cis*-isomer of geraniol) and related esters.

The toxicity of subchronic oral administration of farnesol and the influence of the test material on the activity of hepatic and renal drug-metabolising enzymes was studied in CD rats. Administration of farnesol (composed of four isomers: *cis,cis*- (11.1%), *cis,trans*- (25.1%), *trans,cis*- (24.6%) and *trans,trans*- (38.8%)) at 500 or 1,000 mg/kg per day in corn oil for 28 days induced dose-related alterations in liver and kidney weights and elevated the drug-metabolising enzyme activities of the liver (CYP2E1, glutathione reductase and NADPH quinone reductase) and kidney (glutathione-*S*-transferase), but all effects were reversible. No effects on body weight, food consumption, clinical signs and haematology parameters were observed. Enzyme activities did not differ from control after the 28-day recovery period. Hence, the NOAEL was determined to be 1,000 mg/kg bw per day (Horn et al., 2004, 2005).

A publication by Lindecrona et al. (2003) investigated the subchronic oral toxicity of octan-3-ol, 2-methylcrotonic acid and the resulting ester oct-3-yl 2-methylcrotonate. Octan-3-ol was administered by gavage to rats (10 females and 10 males) at three dose levels (0, 25, 100 or 400 mg/kg bw per day) with the aim of establishing a NOAEL for this substance. For the purpose of comparing the relative toxicity of the ester and its components, the carboxylic acid and the alcohol, only one dose was tested for 2-methylcrotonic acid (77 mg/kg bw per day) and oct-3-yl 2-methylcrotonate (163 mg/kg bw per day). The design of the study does not allow establishing a NOAEL for 2-methylcrotonic acid [08.064].

3.2.3. Safety for the target species

The first approach to the safety assessment for target species takes account of the intended use levels in animal feed relative to the maximum reported exposure of humans on the basis of the metabolic body weight. Human exposure in the EU to the individual compounds ranges from 0.0061 to 5,844 μ g/person per day (EFSA, 2009b; EFSA CEF Panel, 2010a, 2013b). This corresponds to 0.0003–271 μ g/kg^{0.75} per day. These exposure levels are considered safe for humans. Table 3 summarises the result of the comparison with human exposure for representative target animals.

| Flavouring | Use level | Human exposure | Target animal exposure µg/kg bw ^{0.75} per day | | | |
|---------------------|-----------------|---------------------|--|--------|-----------|--|
| | in reed (mg/kg) | (µg/kg bw per day). | Salmon | Piglet | Dairy cow | |
| Geraniol (Z-isomer) | 25 | 25.5 | 588 | 2,632 | 3,885 | |
| Farnesol | 5 | 0.36 | 118 | 526 | 777 | |
| (Z)-Nerol | 5 | 11.6 | 118 | 526 | 777 | |

Table 3: Comparison of exposure of humans and target animals (calculated from the proposed maximum feed concentrations of 5 or 25 mg/kg feed) to the flavourings under application



| Flavouring | Use level | Human exposure | Target animal exposure μg/kg bw ^{0.75} per day | | | |
|-------------------------------|-----------------|--|--|--------|-----------|--|
| <u> </u> | in feed (mg/kg) | (µg/kg bw ⁵⁷⁵ per day) ^(a) | Salmon | Piglet | Dairy cow | |
| Citral | 25 | 271 | 588 | 2,632 | 3,885 | |
| 2-Methyl-2-pentenoic acid | 5 | 1.67 | 118 | 526 | 777 | |
| (2E)-Methylcrotonic acid | 5 | 0.009 | 118 | 526 | 777 | |
| Geranyl acetate | 5 | 21.8 | 118 | 526 | 777 | |
| Geranyl butyrate | 5 | 2.41 | 118 | 526 | 777 | |
| Geranyl formate | 5 | 13.0 | 118 | 526 | 777 | |
| Geranyl propionate | 5 | 3.20 | 118 | 526 | 777 | |
| Neryl propionate | 5 | 0.17 | 118 | 526 | 777 | |
| Neryl formate | 5 | 0.0003 | 118 | 526 | 777 | |
| Neryl acetate | 5 | 6.96 | 118 | 526 | 777 | |
| Ethyl (E,Z)-deca-2,4-dienoate | 5 | 1.35 | 118 | 526 | 777 | |
| Neryl isobutyrate | 5 | 0.08 | 118 | 526 | 777 | |
| Geranyl isobutyrate | 5 | 5.10 | 118 | 526 | 777 | |
| Prenyl acetate | 5 | 0.93 | 118 | 526 | 777 | |

(a): Metabolic body weight (kg $bw^{0.75}$) for a 60-kg person = 21.6.

Table 3 shows that for all compounds the intake by the target animals greatly exceeds that of humans, resulting from use in food.

Safety for the target species at the feed concentration applied cannot be derived from the risk assessment for food use. As an alternative, the maximum feed concentration which can be considered safe for the target animals can be derived from the lowest NOAEL if suitable data are available.

Toxicological data derived from a subchronic, repeated-dose study were available for geraniol [02.012], citral [05.020], geranyl acetate [09.011] and farnesol [02.029] (see Section 3.2.2). A group NOAEL of 345 mg/kg bw per day is considered to apply to geraniol [02.012], citral [05.020], geranyl acetate [09.011], geranyl butyrate [09.048], geranyl formate [09.076], geranyl proprionate [09.128], geranyl isobutyrate [09.431], (*Z*)-nerol [02.058] (the *cis*-isomer of geraniol) and its esters neryl propionate [09.169], neryl formate [09.212] and neryl acetate [09.213]. For farnesol [02.029], a NOAEL of 1,000 mg/kg bw per day was derived from a 28-day toxicity study in rat. Applying an uncertainty factor (UF) of 100 to the NOAELs derived from chronic and subchronic studies and an additional UF of 2 to the NOAEL derived from a 28-day study with farnesol, the maximum safe intake for the target species was derived following the EFSA Guidance for sensory additives (EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2012a), and thus the maximum safe feed concentration was calculated (Table 4).

| Table 4: | Maximum | safe | concen | tration | in feed | for | different | target | animals | s for (| A) citral, | geraniol, |
|----------|-----------|-------|----------|---------|---------|------|-----------|--------|---------|-----------------|------------|-----------|
| | (Z)-nerol | and | related | esters | (NOAE | _ (3 | 845 mg/kg | bw | per day |); (B) | farnesol | (NOAEL |
| | 1,000 mg | /kg b | w with a | n UF o | f 200) | | | | | | | |

| | Default | values | Maximum safe intake/feed concentration | | | |
|-----------------------------|---------------------|---------------------------------------|---|---------|--|-----|
| Target animal | Body weight (kg) | Feed intake (g/day) ^(a) | Intake (| mg/day) | Concentration (mg/kg feed) ^(b) | |
| | | | Α | В | Α | В |
| Salmonids | 2 | 40 | 7 | 10 | 173 | 251 |
| Veal calves (milk replacer) | 100 | 2,000 | 345 | 500 | 173 | 250 |
| Cattle for fattening | 400 | 8,000 | 1,380 | 2,000 | 152 | 220 |
| Dairy Cows | 650 | 20,000 | 2,243 | 3,250 | 99 | 143 |
| Piglets | 20 | 1,000 | 69 | 100 | 69 | 100 |
| Pigs for fattening | 100 | 3,000 | 345 | 500 | 115 | 167 |
| Sows | 200 | 6,000 | 690 | 1,000 | 115 | 167 |
| Chickens for fattening | 2 | 120 | 7 | 10 | 57 | 83 |



| | Default | values | Maximum safe intake/feed concentration | | | | |
|-----------------------|---------------------|---------------------------------------|---|---------|--|-----|--|
| Target animal | Body weight (kg) | Feed intake (g/day) ^(a) | Intake (| mg/day) | Concentration (mg/kg feed) ^(b) | | |
| | | | Α | В | Α | В | |
| Laying hens | 2 | 120 | 7 | 10 | 57 | 83 | |
| Turkeys for fattening | 12 | 400 | 41 | 60 | 104 | 150 | |
| Dogs | 15 | 250 | 52 | 75 | 182 | 264 | |
| Cats ^(c) | 3 | 60 | 2 | 3 | 30 | 44 | |

(a): Complete feed with 88% dry matter (DM), except milk replacer for veal calves (94.5% DM), and for cattle for fattening, dairy cows, dogs and cats for which the values are DM intake.

(b): Complete feed containing 88% DM, milk replacer 94.5% DM.

(c): The uncertainty factor (UF) for cats is increased by an additional factor of 5 because of the reduced capacity for glucuronidation.

As individual reliable NOAELs could not be found for the remaining four compounds, the threshold of toxicological concern (TTC) approach was followed to derive the maximum safe feed concentration (EFSA FEEDAP Panel, 2012a).

For Cramer class I compounds, i.e. 2-methyl-2-pentenoic acid [08.055], (2*E*)-methylcrotonic acid [08.064], ethyl (E,Z)-deca-2,4-dienoate [09.260] and prenyl acetate [09.692], the calculated safe use level is 1.5 mg/kg complete feed for cattle, salmonids and non-food-producing animals and 1.0 mg/kg complete feed for pigs and poultry.

3.2.3.1. Conclusions on safety for the target species

The FEEDAP Panel concludes that:

- geraniol [02.012] and citral [05.020] are safe at the proposed maximum use level of 25 mg/kg feed for all target species;
- farnesol [02.029], (Z)-nerol [02.058], geranyl acetate [09.011], geranyl butyrate [09.048], geranyl formate [09.076], geranyl propionate [09.128], neryl propionate [09.169], neryl formate [09.212], neryl acetate [09.213], neryl isobutyrate [09.424] and geranyl isobutyrate [09.431] are safe at the proposed maximum use level of 5 mg/kg feed for all target species;
- 2-methyl-2-pentenoic acid [08.055], (*2E*)-methylcrotonic acid [08.064], ethyl (*E*,*Z*)-deca-2,4dienoate [09.260] and prenyl acetate [09.692] are safe at the proposed normal use levels of 1 mg/kg complete feed for all animal species.

3.2.4. Safety for the consumer

The safety for the consumer of the 17 compounds used as food flavours has been already assessed by JECFA (WHO, 1999, 2004, 2005) and EFSA (EFSA, 2008, EFSA CEF Panel, 2013a,b). All compounds are currently authorised in the EU as food flavourings without limitations.¹¹

Deposition and residue studies of the compounds in farm animals are not available. However, there is limited data which indicates that grazing animals are naturally exposed to some of the compounds of CG 3 and these can be found in dairy products. Geranyl acetate was identified in cheese made with cow milk from pasture but not with milk from total mixed rations (Carpino et al., 2004). Also, nerol is reported to be in significantly higher quantities in cheese made with cow milk from highland grazing as compared with lowland pasture (Bosset et al., 1994). Geraniol was identified in cheese produced with milk from natural grassland grazed cows (Cornu et al., 2005).

Given the low use levels of CG 3 compounds to be applied in feed, and the expected extensive metabolism and excretion in target animals (see Section 3.2.1), the FEEDAP Panel considers that the use of these flavourings in animal feed would not appreciably increase the human exposure to these compounds.

¹¹ Commission Implementing Regulation (EU) No 872/2012 of 1 October 2012 adopting the list of flavouring substances provided for by Regulation (EC) No 2232/96 of the European Parliament and of the Council, introducing it in Annex I to Regulation (EC) No 1334/2008 of the European Parliament and of the Council and repealing Commission Regulation (EC) No 1565/2000 and Commission Decision 1999/217/EC. OJ L 267, 2.10.2012, p. 1.

3.2.5. Safety for the user

No specific data on the safety for the user were provided. In the material safety data sheets,¹² hazards for skin and eye contact and respiratory exposure are recognised for the majority of the compounds under application. Most are classified as irritating to the respiratory system. Some of the compounds (e.g. geraniol, citral and farnesol) are also reported to be skin sensitisers, however, the sensitising potential is most probably caused by peroxides formed during contact of the unsaturated terpenes with air rather than the pure compounds (Hagvall et al., 2007).

3.2.6. Safety for the environment

The additions of naturally occurring substances that will not result in a substantial increase in the concentration in the environment are exempt from further assessment. Examination of the published literature shows that this applies to 12 substances, namely geraniol [02.012], 3,7,11-trimethyldodeca-2,6,10-trien-1-ol [02.029], (*Z*)-nerol [02.058], citral (mixture of geranial and neral) [05.020], geranyl acetate [09.011], geranyl butyrate [09.048], geranyl formate [09.076], geranyl propionate [09.128], neryl propionate [09.169], neryl acetate [09.213], ethyl (*E*,*Z*)-deca-2,4-dienoate [09.260] and geranyl isobutyrate [09.431], which occur in the environment at levels above the application rate of 5 mg/kg feed. (Data taken from the Netherlands Organisation for Applied Scientific Research (TNO) database Volatile Compounds in Food *ver.* 14.1; Burdock, 2009).¹³

The other five compounds, namely 2-methyl-2-pentenoic acid [08.055], (*2E*)-methylcrotonic acid [08.064], neryl formate [09.212], neryl isobutyrate [09.424] and prenyl acetate [09.692], could not be shown to occur in the environment at levels above the application rate of 1–5 mg/kg feed.

However, the FEEDAP Panel considers that there is a high probability of complete hydrolysis of the three esters in the target animal, resulting in (Z)-nerol and prenol which are naturally occurring compounds. Therefore, neryl formate [09.212], neryl isobutyrate [09.424] and prenyl acetate [09.692] are excluded from further assessment.

For the remaining two compounds, 2-methyl-2-pentenoic acid [08.055] and (2*E*)-methylcrotonic acid [08.064], the predicted environmental concentration for soil (PEC_{soil}) was calculated based on the use rate (Table 5) and compared with the trigger values for compartments set in the Phase I of EFSA guidance (EFSA, 2008).

| EU register name | CAS no. | Dose (mg/kg) | PEC _{soil} (μg/kg) | PEC _{pore water} (μg/L) | PEC _{surface water} (µg/L) |
|---------------------------|-----------|-----------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------------------|--|
| 2-Methyl-2-pentenoic acid | 3142-72-1 | 1.5 | 32 | 125 | 42 |
| 2-Methylcrotonic acid | 80-59-1 | 1.5 | 32 | 165 | 55 |

Table 5: Predicted environmental concentration (PEC) values of 2-methyl-2-pentenoic acid [08.055] and (2E)-methylcrotonic acid [08.064]

EU: European Union; PEC: predicted environmental concentration; CAS no.: Chemical Abstracts Service number.

PEC_{soil} are above the threshold of 10 μ g/kg (EFSA, 2008). The PEC for pore water, however, is dependent on the sorption, which is different for each compound. For these calculations, the substance-dependent constants organic carbon sorption constant (K_{oc}), molecular weight, vapour pressure and solubility are needed. These were estimated from the Simplified Molecular Input Line Entry Specification (SMILES) notation of the chemical structure using EPIWEB 4.1 (Table 6).¹⁴ This program was also used to derive the SMILES notation from the CAS numbers. The K_{oc} value derived from the first-order molecular connectivity index was used, as recommended by the EPIWEB program.

¹² Technical dossier/Section II/Annex II.3.

¹³ Technical dossier/Supplementary information June 2011.

¹⁴ Available online: http://www.epa.gov/opptintr/exposure/pubs/episuitedl.htm



Table 6:Physicochemical properties predicted by EPIWEB 4.1 for 2-methyl-2-pentenoic acid
[08.055] and (*2E*)-methylcrotonic acid [08.064]

| | | Predicted by EPIWEB 4.1 | | | | | | | | |
|---------------------------|-----------|---|-----------------------------|-------------------------|----------------------|--|--|--|--|--|
| EU Register name | CAS no. | DT ₅₀ ^(a) (days) | Molecular weight (g/mol) | Vapour pressure (Pa) | Solubility (mg/L) | K _{oc} ^(b) (L/kg) | | | | |
| 2-Methyl-2-pentenoic acid | 3142-72-1 | 4 | 114.15 | 23.7 | 6,330 | 8 | | | | |
| (2E)-Methylcrotonic acid | 80-59-1 | 3 | 100.12 | 59.7 | 18,450 | 4 | | | | |

EU: European Union; CAS no.: Chemical Abstracts Service number.

(a): DT_{50} , half-life of the additive (by BioWin 3).

(b): K_{oc} , organic carbon sorption constant.

The half-life (DT_{50}) was calculated using BioWin3 (Ultimate Survey Model), which gives a rating number. This rating number r was translated into a half-life using the formula by Arnot et al. (2005):

$$DT_{50} = 10^{(-r \times 1.07 + 4.12)}$$

This is the general regression used to derive estimates of aerobic environmental biodegradation half-lives from BioWin3 model output.

Both substances in Table 5 have $PEC_{pore water}$ above 0.1 µg/L and a PEC_{soil} above 10 µg/kg. Therefore, these two substances are subjected to phase II risk assessment.

In the absence of experimental data, the phase II risk assessment was performed using ECOSAR v1.11, which estimates the half-maximal effective concentration (EC_{50}) or lethal concentration (LC_{50}) for earthworms, fish, algae and daphnids from the SMILES notation of the substance. The predicted no effect concentration (PNEC) for terrestrial environment (PNEC_{soil}) was determined by dividing the LC_{50} earthworm by a UF of 1,000. The corresponding PNEC for aquatic compartment (PNEC_{aquatic}) was derived from the lowest toxicity value for freshwater environment by applying an UF of 1,000.

For both compounds, the ratio PEC/PNEC for soil and surface water was < 1, indicating that there is no risk for the terrestrial and freshwater environment at the use levels considered safe for target species (Table 7).

Table 7:Phase II environmental risk assessment of soil and aquatic compartments for 2-methyl-2-
pentenoic acid [08.055] and (2E)-methylcrotonic acid [08.064] when used as feed
additives for terrestrial farm animals (exposure and effect data were modelled using
EPIWEB 4.1 and ECOSAR 1.11)

| EU register name | LC ₅₀ ^(a) earthworm (mg/kg) | | | | | PEC/ |
|---------------------------|--|--|--|-----------------------------------|--|--------------|
| Soil | | | | (μ g/kg) | (μ g/kg) | PNEC |
| 2-Methyl-2-pentenoic acid | 2,036 | | | 2,036 | 32 | 0.02 |
| (2E)-Methylcrotonic acid | 2,008 | | | 2,008 | 32 | 0.02 |
| Aquatic | LC ₅₀ Fish (mg/L) | LC ₅₀ Daphnids (mg/L) | EC ₅₀ ^(b) Algae (mg/L) | PNEC _{aquatic} (μg/L) | PEC _{sw} ^(c) (μg/L) | PEC/ PNEC |
| 2-Methyl-2-pentenoic acid | 1,171 | 659 | 471 | 471 | 42 | 0.1 |
| (2E)-Methylcrotonic acid | 2,837 | 1,524 | 903 | 903 | 55 | 0.1 |

EU: European Union; PNEC: predicted no effect concentration.

(a): LC_{50} : the concentration of a test substance which results in a 50% mortality of the test species.

(b): EC_{50} : the concentration of a test substance which results in 50% of the test animals being adversely affected (i.e. both mortality and sublethal effects).

(c): PEC_{sw}: predicted environmental concentration in surface water.

The use of all additives in fish feed in land-based aquaculture systems does not give a PEC of the additive (parent compound) in surface water (PEC_{swaq}) above the trigger value of 0.1 µg/L when calculated according to the guidance. For sea cages, a dietary concentration of 0.047 mg/kg would ensure that the threshold for the PEC of the additive (parent compound) in sediment (PEC_{sed}) of 10 µg/kg is not exceeded when calculated according to the EFSA guidance (EFSA, 2008).



3.2.6.1. Conclusions on safety for the environment

The concentrations considered safe for the target species (see Section 3.1.1) are unlikely to have detrimental effects on the terrestrial and fresh water environments. For the marine environment, the safe use level is estimated to be 0.05 mg/kg feed.

3.3. Efficacy

As the 17 compounds are used in food as flavourings, and their function in feed is essentially the same as that in food, no further demonstration of efficacy is necessary.

4. Conclusions

The FEEDAP Panel concludes that geraniol [02.012] and citral [05.020] are safe for all target species at the proposed maximum use level of 25 mg/kg feed; farnesol [02.029], (*Z*)-nerol [02.058], geranyl acetate [09.011], geranyl butyrate [09.048], geranyl formate [09.076], geranyl propionate [09.128], neryl propionate [09.169], neryl formate [09.212], neryl acetate [09.213], neryl isobutyrate [09.424] and geranyl isobutyrate [09.431] are safe at the maximum proposed use level of 5 mg/kg feed for all target species; 2-methyl-2-pentenoic acid [08.055], (*2E*)-methylcrotonic acid 08.064], ethyl (*E*,*Z*)-deca-2,4-dienoate [09.260] and prenyl acetate [09.692] are safe at the proposed normal use levels of 1 mg/kg complete feed for all animal species.

No safety concern would arise for the consumer from the use of these compounds up to the highest safe levels in feed.

Hazards for skin and eye contact and respiratory exposure are recognised for the majority of the compounds under application. Most are classified as irritating to the respiratory system.

The concentrations considered safe for the target species are unlikely to have detrimental effects on the terrestrial and fresh water environments.

As all of the compounds under assessment are used in food as flavourings and their function in feed is essentially the same as that in food, no further demonstration of efficacy is necessary.

Documentation provided to EFSA

- 1) Chemically Defined Group 03 α , β -unsaturated (alkene or alkyne) straight-chain and branched-chain aliphatic primary alcohols/aldehydes/acids, acetals and esters with esters containing α , β -unsaturated alcohols or aldehydes. September 2010. Submitted by Feed Flavourings Authorisation Consortium European Economic Interest Grouping (FFAC EEIG).
- 2) Chemically Defined Group 03 α,β-unsaturated (alkene or alkyne) straight-chain and branched-chain aliphatic primary alcohols/aldehydes/acids, acetals and esters with esters containing α,β-unsaturated alcohols or aldehydes. July 2011. Submitted by Feed Flavourings Authorisation Consortium European Economic Interest Grouping (FFAC EEIG).
- 3) Chemically Defined Group 03 α , β -unsaturated (alkene or alkyne) straight-chain and branched-chain aliphatic primary alcohols/aldehydes/acids, acetals and esters with esters containing α , β -unsaturated alcohols or aldehydes. July 2012. Submitted by Feed Flavourings Authorisation Consortium European Economic Interest Grouping (FFAC EEIG).
- 4) Evaluation report of the European Union Reference Laboratory for Feed Additives on the Methods(s) of Analysis for Chemically Defined Group 03 α , β -unsaturated (alkene or alkyne) straight-chain and branched-chain aliphatic primary alcohols/aldehydes/acids, acetals and esters with esters containing α , β -unsaturated alcohols or aldehydes.
- 5) Comments from Member States.

References

- Arnot J, Gouin T and Mackay D, 2005. Practical Methods for Estimating Environmental Biodegradation Rates, Report to Environment Canada. CEMN Report No 200503. Canadian Environmental Modelling Network, Trent University, Peterborough, Ontario, Canada.
- Blevins S, Siegel PB, Blodgett DJ, Ehrich M and Lewis RM, 2012. Liver enzymes in White Leghorns selected for the sheep red blood cell immune response. Poultry Science, 91, 322–326.
- Bosset JO, Bütikofer U, Gauch R and Sieber R, 1994. Caractérisation de fromages d'alpages subalpins suisses: mise en évidence par GC-MMS de tèrpenes et d'hydrocarbures aliphatiques lors del l'analyse par "Purge and Trap" des arômes volatils de ces fromages. Schweizer Milchw. Forschung, 23, 37–41.



- Boyer CS and Petersen DR, 1991. The metabolism of 3,7-dimethyl-2,6-octadienal (citral) in rat hepatic mitochondrial and cytosolic fractions. Interactions with aldehyde and alcohol dehydrogenases. Drug Metabolism and Disposition, 19, 81–86.
- Burdock GA, 2009. *Fenaroli's Handbook of Flavor Ingredients*. 6th Edition. CRC Press. Taylor & Francis Group, Boca Raton, Florida, USA.
- Carpino S, Mallia S, La Terra S, Melilli C, Licitra G and Acree T, 2004. Composition and aroma compounds of ragusano cheese: native pasture and total mixed rations. Journal of Dairy Science, 87, 816–830.
- Chadha A and Madyastha KM, 1982. ω-Hydroxylation of acyclic monoterpene alcohols by rat liver microsomes. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communication, 108, 1271–1277.
- Chadha A and Madyastha KM, 1984. Metabolism of geraniol and linalool in the rat and effects on liver and lung microsomal enzymes. Xenobiotica, 14, 365–374.
- Cornu A, Kondjoyan N, Martin B, Verdier-Metz I, Pradel P, Berdagué J-L and Coulon J-B, 2005. Terpene profiles in Cantal and Saint-Nectaire-type cheese made from raw or pasteurised milk. Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture, 85, 2040–2046.
- Court MH, 2013. Feline drug metabolism and disposition: pharmacokinetic evidence for species differences and molecular mechanisms. Veterinary Clinic of North America: Small Animal Practice, 43, 1039–1054. doi: 10.1016/j.cvsm.2013.05.002
- Crockett EL and Sidell BD, 1993. Substrate selectivities differ for hepatic mitochondrial and peroxisomal betaoxidation in an Antarctic fish, Notothenia gibberifrons. The Biochemical Journal, 289(Pt 2), 427–433.
- Di Giulio RT and Hinton DE, 2008. The Toxicology of Fishes. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, USA.
- Diliberto JJ, Srinivas P, Overstreet D, Usha G, Burka LT and Birnbaum LS, 1990. Metabolism of citral, an alpha, beta-unsaturated aldehyde, in male F344 rats. Drug Metabolism and Disposition, 18, 866–875.
- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority), 2008. Technical Guidance of the Scientific Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed (FEEDAP) for assessing the safety of feed additives for the environment. EFSA Journal 2008;6(10):842, 28 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2008.842
- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority), 2009a. Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Food Contact Material, Enzymes, Flavourings and Processing Aids on a request from the Commission on Flavouring Group Evaluation 202: 3-Alkylated aliphatic acyclic alpha,beta-unsaturated aldehydes and precursors with or without additional double bonds from chemical subgroup 1.1.3 of FGE.19. EFSA Journal 2009;7(5):1081, 27 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2009.1081
- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority), 2009b. Scientific Opinion of the Panel on Food Contact Material, Enzymes, Flavourings and Processing Aids on a request from the Commission on Flavouring Group Evaluation 70 (FGE.70): consideration of aliphatic, alicyclic, linear, alpha,beta-unsaturated, di- and trienals and related alcohols, acids and esters evaluated by JECFA (61st meeting). EFSA Journal 2009;7(9):1205, 19 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2009.1205
- EFSA CEF Panel (EFSA Panel on Food Contact Materials, Enzymes, Flavourings and Processing Aids), 2010a. Scientific Opinion on Flavouring Group Evaluation 95 (FGE.95): consideration of aliphatic, linear or branchedchain saturated and unsaturated alcohols, aldehydes, acids and related esters evaluated by JECFA (69th meeting) structurally related to esters of branched- and straight-chain aliphatic saturated primary alcohols and of one secondary alcohol, and branched- and straight-chain unsaturated carboxylic acids evaluated by EFSA in FGE.05Rev1 (2008). EFSA Journal 2010; 8(11):1207, 51 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2010.1207
- EFSA CEF Panel (EFSA Panel on Food Contact Materials, Enzymes, Flavourings and Processing Aids), 2010b. Panel on Food Contact Materials, Enzymes, Flavourings and Processing Aids (CEF); Flavouring Group Evaluation 5, Revision 2 (FGE.05Rev2): branched- and straight-chain unsaturated carboxylic acids and esters of these with aliphatic saturated alcohols from chemical groups 1, 2, 3 and 5. EFSA Journal 2010; 8(10):1400, 84 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2010.1400
- EFSA CEF Panel (EFSA Panel on Food Contact Materials, Enzymes, Flavourings and Processing Aids), 2013a. Scientific Opinion on Flavouring Group Evaluation 72, Revision 1 (FGE.72Rev1): consideration of aliphatic, branched-chain saturated and unsaturated alcohols, aldehydes, acids, and related esters evaluated by the JECFA (61st meeting) structurally related to branched- and straight-chain unsaturated carboxylic acids, esters of these and straight-chain aliphatic saturated alcohols evaluated by EFSA in FGE.05Rev2. EFSA Journal 2013;11(10):3392, 54 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2013.3392
- EFSA CEF Panel (EFSA Panel on Food Contact Materials, Enzymes, Flavourings and Processing Aids). 2013b. Scientific Opinion on Flavouring Group Evaluation 06, Revision 4 (FGE.06Rev4): straight- and branched-chain aliphatic unsaturated primary alcohols, aldehydes, carboxylic acids and esters from chemical groups 1, 3 and 4. EFSA Journal 2013;11(2):3091, 94 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2013.3091
- EFSA CEF Panel (EFSA Panel on Food Contact Materials, Enzymes, Flavourings and Processing Aids), 2014a. Scientific Opinion on Flavouring Group Evaluation 203 Revision 1 (FGE.203Rev1): α , β -Unsaturated aliphatic aldehydes and precursors from chemical subgroup 1.1.4 of FGE.19 with two or more conjugated double-bonds and with or without additional non-conjugated double-bonds. EFSA Journal 2014;12(4):3626, 31 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2014.3626
- EFSA CEF Panel (EFSA Panel on Food Contact Materials, Enzymes, Flavourings and Processing Aids), 2014b. Scientific Opinion on Flavouring Group Evaluation 200 (FGE.200): 74 α,β-unsaturated aldehydes and precursors from subgroup 1.1.1 of FGE.19. EFSA Journal 2014;12(6):3709, 57 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2014.3709



- EFSA FEEDAP Panel (EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed), 2012a. Guidance for the preparation of dossiers for sensory additives. EFSA Journal 2012;10(1):2534, 26 pp. doi:10.2903/ j.efsa.2012.2534
- EFSA FEEDAP Panel (EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed), 2012b. Guidance for the preparation of dossiers for additives already authorised for use in food. EFSA Journal 2012;10(1):2538, 4 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2012.2538
- EFSA FEEDAP Panel (EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed), 2012c. Guidance for establishing the safety of additives for the consumer. EFSA Journal 2012;10(1):2537, 12 pp. doi:10.2903/ j.efsa.2012.2537
- EFSA FEEDAP Panel (on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed), 2012d. Guidance on studies concerning the safety of use of the additive for users/workers. EFSA Journal 2012;10(1):2539, 5 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2012.2539
- Endo S, Matsunaga T, Ohta C, Soda M, Kanamori A, Kitade Y, Ohno S, Tajima K and El-Kabbanie Oand Hara A, 2011. Roles of rat and human aldo-keto reductases in metabolism of farnesol and geranylgeraniol. Chemico Biological Interactions, 191, 261–268.
- FAO (Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations), 2006. FAO JECFA Monographs 1: Combined Compendium of Food Additive Specifications—Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives—All specifications monographs from the 1st to the 65th meeting (1956–2005). Volume 4. Analytical methods, test procedures and laboratory solutions used by and referenced in the food additive specifications. Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations, Rome Italy. Available online: http://www.fao.org/docrep/009/a0691e/00.htm
- Felsted RL and Bachur NR, 1980. Chapter 13, ketone reductase. In: Jakoby WB (ed.). *Biochemical Pharmacology and Toxicology. A Series of Monographs. Enzymatic basis of detoxication, Volume 1*, Academic Press Inc., New York, USA, pp. 281–292.
- Feron VJ, Til HP, de Vrijer F, Woutersen RA, Cassee FR and van Bladeren PJ, 1991. Aldehydes: occurrence, carcinogenic potential, mechanism of action and risk assessment. Mutation Research, 259, 363–385.
- Fink-Gremmels J, 2008. Implications of hepatic cytochrome P450-related biotransformation processes in veterinary sciences. European journal of Pharmacology, 585, 502–509.
- Franz C, Baser KHC and Windisch W, 2010. Essential oils and aromatic plants in animal feeding a European perspective. A review. Flavour and Fragrance Journal, 25, 327–340.
- Gusson F, Carletti M, Giuliano Albo A, Dacasto M and Nebbia C, 2006. Comparison of hydrolitic and conjugative biotransformations pathways in horse, cattle, pig, broiler chick, rabbit and rat liver subcellular fractions. Veterinary Research Communications, 30, 271–283.
- Hagan EC, Hansen WH, Fitzhugh OG, Jenner PM, Jones WI, Taylor JM, Long EL, Nelson AA and Brouwer JB, 1967. Food flavourings and compounds of related structure. II. Subacute and chronic toxicity. Food and Cosmetic Toxicology, 5, 141–157.
- Hagvall L, Bäcktorp C, Svensson S, Nyman G, Börje A and Karlberg A-T, 2007. Gragrance compound geraniol forms contact allergens on air exposure. Identification and quantification of oxidation products and effect on skin sensitisation. Chemical Research in Toxicology, 20, 807–814.
- Heymann E, 1980. Carboxylesterases and amidases. In: Jakoby WB (ed.). *Enzymatic Basis of Detoxication*. 2nd Edition. Academic Press, New York, USA. pp. 291–323.
- Horn T, Long L, Cwik M, Johnson W, Morrissey R, Kapetanovic I and McCormick D, 2004. Subchronic oral toxicity/ enzyme modulation study of farnesol in rats. The Toxicologist, 78, 15.
- Horn T, Long L, Cwik M, Morrissey R, Kapetanovic I and McCormick D, 2005. Modulation of hepatic and renal drug metabolizing enzyme activities in rats by subchronic administration of farnesol. Chemico-Biological Interactions, 152, 79–99.
- Ioannides C, 2006. Cytochrome P450 expression in the liver of food-producing animals. Current Drug Metabolism, 7, 335–348.
- James MO, 1987. Conjugation of organic pollutants in aquatic species. Environmental Health Perspectives, 71, 97–103.
- Li S-N and Fan D-F, 1997. Activity of esterases from different tissues of freshwater fish and responses of their isoenzymes to inhibitors. Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, 51, 149–157.
- Lindecrona RH, Mølck A-M, Gry J, Poulsen M, Andersen R and Thorup I, 2003. Subchronic oral toxicity study on the three flavouring substances: octan-3-ol, 2-methylcrotonic acid and oct-3-yl 2-methylcrotonate in Wistar rats. Food and Chemical Toxicology, 41, 647–654.
- Nebbia C, Dacasto M, Rossetto Giaccherino A, Giuliano Albo A and Carletti M, 2003. Comparative expression of liver cytochrome P450-dependent monooxygenases in the horse and in other agricultural and laboratory species. The Veterinary Journal, 165, 53–64.
- NTP (National Toxicology Program) 2003. NTP technical report on the toxicology and carcinogenesis studies of citral (CAS No. 5392-40-5) in F344/N rats and B6C3F1 mice (feed studies). NTP TR 505. NIH Publication No. 03-4439.
- NTP (National Toxicology Program) 1987. Carcinogenesis studies of food grade geranyl acetate (71% geranyl acetate, 29% citronellyl acetate) (CAS No. 105-87-3) in F344/rats and B6C3F1 mice (gavage study), NTP TR 252.. NIH Publication No. 88-2508.



Pan HP and Fouts JR, 1978. Drug metabolism reviews. Drug metabolism in birds: part 1. Drug Metabolism Reviews, 7, 1–253.

Parkinson A, 1996. Biotransformation of xenobiotics. In: Klaassen CD (ed.). *Casarret and Doull's Toxicology: The Basic Science of Poisons*. 5th Edition. McGraw-Hill, New York, USA. pp. 113–186.

Sanz M, Lopez-Bote CJ, Menoyo D and Bautista JM, 2000. Abdominal fat deposition and fatty acid synthesis are lower and beta-oxidation is higher in broiler chickens fed diets containing unsaturated rather than saturated fat. The Journal of Nutrition, 130, 3034–3037.

Shrestha B, Reed JM, Starks PT, Kaufman GE, Goldstone JV, Roelke ME, O'Brien SJ, Koepfli K-P, Framk LG and Court MH, 2011. Evolution of a major drug metabolizing enzyme defect in the domestic cat and other felidae: phylogenetic timing and the role of hypercarnivory. PLoS ONE, 6, e18046. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0018046

Staines AG, Sindelar P, Coughtrie MWH and Burchell B, 2004. Farnesol is glucuronidated in human liver, kidney and intestine *in vitro*, and is a novel substrate for UGT2B7 and UGT1A1. Biochemical Journal, 384, 637–645.

Stryer L, 1988. Biochemistry. Freeman, W.H. and Co., New York, USA. pp. 469-491, 459-514.

Szotakova B, Baliharova V, Lamka J, Nozinova E, Wsol V, Velik J, Machala M, Neca J, Soucek P, Susova S and Skalova L, 2004. Comparison of *in vitro* activities of biotransformation enzymes in pig, cattle, goat and sheep. Research in Veterinary Science, 76, 43–51.

Voet D and Voet JG, 1990. Biochemistry. Chapter 19: Citric Acid Cycle. Chapter 23: Lipid Metabolism, Beta-Oxidation, Cholesterol Biosynthesis. Chapter 24: Amino Acid Metabolism, Tetrahydrofolate Pathway. John Wiley & Sons, New York, USA, pp. 506–527, 623–633, 645–651, 686–700, 761–763.

- Watkins JB III and Klaassen CD, 1986. Xenobiotic biotransformation in livestock: comparison to other species commonly used in toxicity testing. Journal of Animal Science, 63, 933–942.
- Westfall D, Aboushadi N, Shackelford JE and Krisans SK, 1997. Metabolism of farnesol: phosphorylation of farnesol by rat liver microsomal and peroxisomal fractions. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communication, 230, 562–568.
- WHO (World Health Organization), 1980. Evaluation of certain food additives. Twenty-third report of the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives. WHO Technical Report Series, no. 648, WHO, Geneva, Switzerland.
- WHO (World Health Organization), 1997. Evaluation of certain food additives and contaminants. Forty-sixth report of the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives. Geneva, 6-15 February 1996. WHO Technical Report Series, no. 868. WHO, Geneva, Switzerland.

WHO (World Health Organization), 1999. Evaluation of certain food additives and contaminants. Forty-ninth report of the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives. WHO Technical Report Series, no. 884. Rome, 17–26 June 1997. WHO, Geneva, Switzerland.

WHO (World Health Organization), 2004. Evaluation of certain food additives. Sixty-first report of the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives. WHO Technical Report Series, no. 922. Rome, 10–19 June 2003. WHO, Geneva, Switzerland.

WHO (World Health Organization), 2005. Evaluation of certain food additives. Sixty-third report of the Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives. WHO Technical Report Series, no. 928. Geneva, 8–17 June 2004. WHO, Geneva, Switzerland.

Wolf JC and Wolfe MJ, 2005. A brief overview of nonneoplastic hepatic toxicity in fish. Toxicologic Pathology, 33, 75–85.

Abbreviations

| ADH | alcohol dehydrogenase |
|------------------|--|
| ALDH | aldehyde dehydrogenase |
| bw | body weight |
| CAS | Chemical Abstracts Service |
| CD | Commission Decision |
| CEF Panel | EFSA Panel on Food Contact Materials, Enzymes, |
| | Flavourings and Processing Aids |
| CG | chemical group |
| CDG | chemically defined group |
| DM | dry matter |
| DT ₅₀ | degradation half-time |
| EC ₅₀ | half-maximal effective concentration |
| ECOSAR | component program of EPI suite [™] |
| EPI suite | Estimation Programs Interface (EPI) Suite [™] |
| EURL | European Union Reference Laboratory |
| FAO | Food and Agriculture Organization |
| FEEDAP Panel | EFSA Panel on Additives and Products or Substances used in Animal Feed |
| | |



| FFAC | Feed Flavourings authorisation Consortium of (FEFANA) |
|------------------------------|---|
| | the EU Association of Specialty Feed Ingredients and their Mixtures |
| FGE | Flavouring Group Evaluation |
| FLAVIS | EU Flavour Information System |
| FPP | farnesyldiphosphate |
| GC-MS | gas chromatography–mass spectrometry |
| JECFA | Joint FAO/WHO Expert Committee on Food Additives |
| K _{oc} | organic carbon sorption constant |
| K _{ow} | octanol-water partition coefficient |
| LC ₅₀ | lethal concentration 50 |
| Log K _{ow} | logarithm of octanol-water partition coefficient |
| NAD | nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide |
| NADP | nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate |
| NOAEL | no observed adverse effect level |
| PEC | predicted environmental concentration |
| PECpore water | predicted environmental concentration for pore water |
| PECsed | predicted environmental concentration of the additive |
| | (parent compound) in sediment |
| PEC _{soil} | predicted environmental concentration for soil |
| PEC _{surface water} | predicted environmental concentration for surface water |
| PECswag | predicted environmental concentration of the additive |
| onaq | (parent compound) in surface water |
| PNEC | predicted no effect concentration |
| PNECsoil | predicted no effect concentration for terrestrial environment |
| PNECaquatic | predicted no effect concentration of aquatic compartment |
| RTL | retention time locking |
| SMILES | Simplified Molecular Input Line Entry Specification |
| TNO | Netherlands Organisation for Applied Scientific Research |
| ПС | threshold of toxicological concern |
| UF | uncertainty factor |
| WHO | World Health Organization |
| | |



Annex A – Executive Summary of the Evaluation Report of the European Union Reference Laboratory for Feed Additives on the Method(s) of Analysis for Chemically Defined Flavourings - Group 03 α , β -unsaturated (alkene or alkyne) straight-chain and branched-chain aliphatic primary alcohols/aldehydes/acids, acetals and esters with esters containing α , β -unsaturated alcohols or aldehydes

The Chemically Defined Flavourings - Group 03 (α , β -unsaturated (alkene or alkyne) straight-chain and branched-chain aliphatic primary alcohols/aldehydes/acids, acetals and esters with esters containing α , β -unsaturated alcohols or aldehydes), in this application comprises 43 substances, for which authorisation as feed additives is sought under the category 'sensory additives', functional group 2(b) 'flavouring compounds', according to the classification system of Annex I of Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003.

In the current application submitted according to Article 4(1) and Article 10(2) of Regulation (EC) No 1831/2003, the authorisation for all species and categories is requested. The flavouring compounds of interest have a purity ranging from 85% to 98%.

Mixtures of flavouring compounds are intended to be incorporated only into *feedingstuffs* or drinking *water*. The Applicant suggested no minimum or maximum levels for the different flavouring compounds in *feedingstuffs*.

For the identification of volatile chemically defined flavouring compounds *CDG03* in the *feed additive*, the Applicant submitted a qualitative multianalyte gas chromatography–mass spectrometry (GC–MS) method, using retention time locking (RTL), which allows a close match of retention times on GC–MS. By making an adjustment to the inlet pressure, the retention times can be closely matched to those of a reference chromatogram. It is then possible to screen samples for the presence of target compounds using a mass spectral database of RTL spectra. The Applicant maintained two FLAVOR2 databases/libraries (for retention times and for MS spectra) containing data for more than 409 flavouring compounds. These libraries were provided to the European Union Reference Laboratory (EURL). The Applicant provided the typical chromatogram for the *CDG03* of interest.

In order to demonstrate the transferability of the proposed analytical method (relevant for the method verification), the Applicant prepared a model mixture of flavouring compounds on a solid carrier to be identified by two independent expert laboratories. This mixture contained twenty chemically defined flavourings belonging to twenty different chemical groups to represent the whole spectrum of compounds in use as feed flavourings with respect to their volatility and polarity. Both laboratories properly identified all the flavouring compounds in all the formulations. Since the substances of *CDG03* are within the volatility and polarity range of the model mixture tested, the Applicant concluded that the proposed analytical method is suitable to determine qualitatively the presence of the substances from *CDG03* in the mixture of *flavouring compounds*.

Based on the satisfactory experimental evidence provided, the EURL recommends for official control for the qualitative identification in the *feed additive* of the individual (or mixture of) flavouring compounds of interest the GC–MS–RTL (Agilent specific) method submitted by the Applicant. However, the method is not able to discriminate between [nona-2,6-dien-1-ol and tr-2, *cis*-6-nonadien-1-ol] or [2-dodecenal and dodec-2(*trans*)-enal] or [nona-2,4-dienal and tr-2,tr-4-nonadienal] or [2,4-decadienal and deca-2(*trans*),4(*trans*)-dienal] or [*trans*-2-nonenal and non-2-enal].

As no experimental data were provided by the Applicant for the identification of the *active substance(s)* in *feedingstuffs* and *water*, no methods could be evaluated. Therefore, the EURL is unable to recommend a method for the official control to identify the *active substance*(s) of interest in *feedingstuffs* or *water*.

Further testing or validation of the methods to be performed through the consortium of National Reference Laboratories as specified by Article 10 (Commission Regulation (EC) No 378/2005) is not considered necessary.